CITY OF CHICO PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF September 6, 2018

Municipal Center 421 Main Street Council Chambers

Commissioners Present: Toni Scott, Chair

Bob Evans, Vice Chair

Cynthia Arregui Dale Bennett John Howlett Evan Tuchinsky

Commissioners Absent: Lupita Arim-Law

Staff Members Present: Brendan Vieg, Deputy Director, CDD

Bruce Ambo, AICP, Principal Planner

Mike Sawley, Senior Planner Shannon Costa, Assistant Planner

Matt Johnson, Senior Development Engineer Robyn Ryan, Administrative Assistant

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chair Scott called the meeting to order at 6:02 pm.

- **1.1** Chair Scott led the Pledge of Allegiance.
- 1.2 Commission members and staff were present as noted.

2. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION

Commissioners Tuchinsky and Howlett both drove by project site associated with Item 4.1 and had email correspondence with Richard Harriman regarding Item 4.2. Commissioner Tuchinsky also spoke with Assistant Planner Shannon Costa regarding Item 4.1 and spoke with Deputy Director Vieg regarding Item 4.2.

3. CONSENT AGENDA

None.

4. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS

4.1 West 11th Avenue Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map (S 17-09); APNs 043-800-013, -015, and -017: A proposal to subdivide an approximately 3.0-acre site into 21 lots for residential development. The site is located on the south side of West 11th Avenue, between Holly Avenue and Sun Circle Court. The site is designated Low Density Residential on the General Plan Land Use Diagram and is zoned R1 (Low Density Residential). The proposal involves a new public street taking access from West 11th Avenue, turning to the east and terminating in a cul-de-sac bulb. This project is categorically exempt from further environmental review pursuant to Section 15332 of the California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines (Infill Development Projects).

Assistant Planner Shannon Costa provided the staff report and answered questions from the Commission.

Chair Scott opened the public hearing at 6:10 pm.

Nicole Ledford with NorthStar Engineering, and the engineer for the applicant, explained the project and traffic design and answered questions from the Commission.

Pat Willhoit, a neighbor of this proposed project, spoke in opposition to the project. He shared the project's lot sizes are not compatible with the neighborhood and the subdivision is directly adjacent to an agricultural operation.

Applicant, Zach Plottel, addressed the Commission to answer any questions and respond to concerns brought up by one of the neighbors.

Jim Stevens, also representing the applicant, addressed the Commission to answer any questions.

With no other members of the public wishing to address the Commission, Chair Scott closed the public hearing at 6:31 pm.

Vice-Chair Evans moved that the Planning Commission adopt Resolution No. 18-20, approving the West 11th Avenue Tentative Subdivision Map (S 17-09) based on the required findings subject to the conditions as set forth therein.

Commissioner Arregui seconded the motion which passed 5-1-1 (Scott opposed; Arim-Law absent).

4.2 Chico General Plan Annual Review: Land Absorption Study, Sustainability <u>Indicators Report, and Title 19 Amendments</u> - The City's General Plan directs that an annual report be prepared on the status of the General Plan and progress on its implementation. In 2017, the City Council and Planning Commission considered a more robust Five-Year General Plan Review, which also included an evaluation of development trends, current land supply, market conditions, and the ability of available land to meet future development needs. The Review concluded that there is an adequate supply of vacant land to meet the community's needs through the General Plan's 2030 planning horizon. Council directed staff to prepare a more detailed land absorption analysis to gain greater insight into residential and commercial land use demand and supply, issues affecting affordability, and impediments to opening up land planned to accommodate growth. The City retained BAE Urban Economics to assist in the preparation of a Land Absorption Study. In addition, a Sustainability Indicators Report has been prepared to gauge progress in advancing the General Plan's sustainability-related goals and policies.

Deputy Director Brendan Vieg provided the staff report and answered questions from the Commission.

Aaron Nousaine, Vice-President with BAE Urban Economics, presented the Land Absorption Study to the Commission and answered questions.

Chair Scott opened the public hearing at 7:27 pm.

Kate Leyden with the Chico Builders' Association spoke regarding the Land Absorption Study and shared that while in theory there is available land, they believe the risks, challenges and costs make building unaffordable on many of the sites. However, they are looking forward to looking more deeply into this study and its recommendations.

Mike Trolinder questioned what the density would have to look like before it can begin to pay for adequate City infrastructure. He stated the City currently can't pay for roads (to maintain and repair), because there isn't enough tax revenue. He questioned: what does the number need to be for us to be sustainable?

Developer Chris Giampaoli thought BAE did a great job with the study; however, the vacant land is not really there, he doesn't see it. It is not available for many reasons. He would like to see the proposed project list updated to 2018.

With no other members of the public wishing to address the Commission, Chair Scott closed the public hearing at 7:39 pm.

The Planning Commission considered the Land Absorption Study and the Sustainability Indicators Report and then directed questions to staff, and provided comments below:

- 1. Land Absorption Study Questions/Comments from the Commission:
 - Vice-Chair Evans asked about the density question brought up by Mike Trolinder.
 - O Aaron Nousaine said this study did not look at the relationship of what density would be necessary to provide adequate revenue for the City. This type of study can be done but was not a part of the Land Absorption Study. This would be a nexus study.
- 2. Sustainability Indicators Report Questions/Comments from the Commission:
 - Chair Scott had one question regarding climate change. Wasn't there a climate change vulnerability assessment? Is this something to review at a Planning Commission meeting?
 - O Deputy Director Vieg said this was the Climate Action Plan and Vulnerability Assessment (VA). It was shared with both the Planning Commission and the City Council for review. This is the Sustainability Task Force's focus. The VA will be brought to the Commission when the STF shares its annual report with the Commission.
- 3. Title 19 Amendments Comments/Suggested Edits from the Commission:
 - Commissioner Tuchinsky: page 2 Item M: change the language to "including but not limited to the following..."
 - Senior Planner Mike Sawley said that in <u>Chapter 19.02.020 Rules of</u> <u>Interpretation under B. Language: 1. Terminology "Includes" and</u> "Including" mean "including but not limited to..."
 - Principal Planner Ambo stated with Chair Scott that due to the questions regarding Chapter 19.08 Non-Conforming Structures, Uses and Parcels, that chapter can be pulled from the amendments until further research and study has been completed.
 - Chair Scott: page 14 regarding the Administrative Use Permit: Under Public Notice –

"public notice shall be provided...to all tenants and owners of real property...directly abutting or adjacent to the subject parcel." Why not 300 feet?

- Principal Planner Ambo explained that under the existing Code the requirement is 500 feet, however with an Administrative Use Permit, we are trying to keep noticing costs down.
- O Senior Planner Mike Sawley, the reason for the change, the Administrative Use Permit, all the types that would fall under this permit are very localized in effect and do not have ramifications beyond the adjacent property owners. Permits would include things like increasing the height of a fence or reducing a setback.
- Assistant City Attorney Jared stated that he'd like to review the changes made regarding non-conforming uses and he would like to meet with staff more about the intent and the effect they will have.
- Commissioner Bennett would like to see some adjustments regarding the allowed lighting and lighting requirements in in-fill subdivisions. Shorter height light standards so as to not affect the surrounding neighborhoods.
 - Senior Planner Mike Sawley stated this may be best suited for Title 18R under Subdivisions (Public Works Department updates are being worked on now.)
 - o Senior Engineer Johnson stated there are lighting standards requirements.

Commissioner Tuchinsky moved that the Planning Commission adopt Resolution No. 18-18, recommending the City Council adoption of an ordinance to amend Title 19 of the Chico Municipal Code with exceptions for Chapters 19.08 – Non-Conforming Structures, Uses and Parcels and 19.78 – Wireless Telecommunications Facilities subject to review by the City Attorney's Office and the conditions as set forth therein.

Chair Scott seconded the motion which passed 6-0-1 (Arim-Law absent).

5. REGULAR AGENDA

None.

6. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR

None.

7. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS

Deputy Director Vieg communicated to the Commission that Butte LAFCO voted to approve a Sphere of Influence amendment for Chico.

8. ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business from the Commission, the meeting was adjourned at 8:20 pm to the Regular meeting of Thursday, September 20, 2018 at 6:00 pm.

Date Approved

Bruce Ambo, Principal Planner

Community Development Department /

Planning Commission Secretary